

The Global Philanthropy Environment Index 2022





# Contents

Executive Summary	02
What Is the Global Philanthropy Environment Index?	05
What Is an Enabling Environment for Philanthropy and How is it Measured?	05
Factors Measured in the 2022 GPEI	06
2022 GPEI Global Highlights	
Results by Factor	
COVID-19 Pandemic and Its Impact on Philanthropy.	
Results by Region	20
Informal Philanthropy	30
Results by Economy	
Global Changes and Their Impact on Philanthropy	40
Setting the Stage	42
Changes over Time between 2014–2017 and 2018–2020	
Changes by Factor between 2014–2017 and 2018–2020	
Changes by Region between 2014–2017 and 2018–2020	
Looking Ahead	
Limitations and Directions for Future Research	
Methodology	
Acknowledgments	60
References	68

## Note

On February 24, 2022, Russia begun the invasion of Ukraine. The impact of this historic event on the philanthropic environment will be studied in the next edition of *GPEI*.

## **Executive Summary**

The 2022 *Global Philanthropy Environment Index (GPEI)* reveals that the philanthropic environment showed modest improvement at the global level, but not uniformly so. Country and regional reports suggest that a consistent and enabling regulatory environment, state collaboration, and strong philanthropic traditions and societal values are essential to nurture philanthropy.

In 2018–2020, the world observed large-scale natural disasters, armed conflicts, economic shocks, political unrest, various migration crises, and a global pandemic. People responded to these challenges in every country and economy across the globe by helping others—either by giving directly or through formal philanthropic organizations.

While the increasing role of philanthropy is recognized, the ecosystem of regulations, politics, economic factors, and cultures needs further attention in order to provide an enabling environment for philanthropy to thrive. The 2022 *GPEI* shows that, while 62 percent of the 91 countries and economies had a favorable environment for philanthropy in 2018–2020, nearly half of country experts reported a slowdown in economic growth due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Moreover, one-third of the 91 economies reported a restrictive environment for cross-border philanthropic flows, despite emerging needs and significant funding efforts provided by major philanthropists and philanthropic organizations. Looking ahead, the future of philanthropy is likely to be characterized by collaboration, new technologies, and digitalization of giving across the world.



## The 2022 Global Philanthropy Environment Index (GPEI) Overview

## 91 countries and economies studied

The 2022 *GPEI* measures the enabling environment for philanthropy in 91 countries and economies during the three-year period from 2018 to 2020.



# The 2022 *GPEI* assesses the philanthropic environment through six factors, using a score on a scale of 1 (least favorable) to 5 (most favorable).

- Ease of operating a philanthropic organization
- Tax incentives
- Cross-border philanthropic flows

- Political environment
- Economic environment
- Socio-cultural environment



## 3/5 of economies reported a favorable philanthropic environment

Sixty-two percent of the countries and economies included in the 2022 *GPEI* reported a favorable philanthropic environment (a score of 3.50 or above).

3.63

### 3.63 average overall score

Among the six factors, the ease of operating a philanthropic organization (3.97) scored the highest global average in 2018–2020 and the economic environment (3.46) scored the lowest across economies in 2018–2020.

## Changes in the Philanthropic Environment Between 2014–2017 and 2018–2020



# The overall philanthropic environment has improved slightly since 2014–2017

Comparing the 79 economies included in both the 2018 and 2022 *GPEI*, the global philanthropic environment showed an overall modest improvement from 3.64 in 2014–2017 to 3.67 in 2018–2020.



## Increased political environment and decreased cross-border giving

Among the five factors measured in both the 2018 and 2022 *GPEI*, the political environment showed the largest score increase across the globe (2.8%), while the environment for cross-border giving experienced a slight decrease, having the largest score decline (-1.9%) between 2014–2017 and 2018–2020.

## Regional improvements balanced with slight declines

At the regional level, the Balkan Countries, Northern Europe, Southern and Southeastern Asia, and Sub-Saharan Africa experienced improvements in their environment for philanthropy between 2014–2017 and 2018–2020. Such improvements, however, were balanced with a slight decline in Canada and the United States, Latin America, the Middle East and Northern Africa, Oceania, and Southern Europe.

- ↑ Balkan Countries
- ↑ Northern Europe

↑ Sub-Saharan Africa

↑ Southern and Southeastern Asia

- $\downarrow$  Canada and the United States
- $\downarrow$  Latin America
- $\downarrow$  Middle East and Northern Africa
- ↓ Oceania
- $\downarrow$  Southern Europe

## Shrinking space for philanthropy in one-third of the 79 economies

1/3

At the level of each country and economy, one-third of the 79 countries and economies included in both the 2018 and 2022 *GPEI* experienced a decline in their political environment due to various changes such as political instability; state harassment and negative campaigns (especially against human rights and watchdog organizations); and restrictions on foreign funding.

# What Is the Global Philanthropy Environment Index?

Philanthropy is growing worldwide. Its evolution is subject to less understood factors such as regulatory, political, economic, and cultural contexts. The *Global Philanthropy Environment Index* (*GPEI*) maps these factors so we can understand how philanthropy is likely to evolve and how it could be enabled to thrive. The *GPEI* assesses the environment for philanthropy within a country and across countries by examining the barriers and incentives for individuals and organizations working in or supporting the philanthropic sector.

The 2022 *GPEI* provides comprehensive information about the philanthropic environment in 91 countries and economies around the world by measuring the regulatory, political, economic, and socio-cultural incentives and barriers to philanthropy in economies at every level of income and growth. It uses a standard questionnaire completed by countrybased experts; an in-depth review process conducted by regional reviewers; and a careful global review conducted by an advisory council.

The 2022 *GPEI* examines the philanthropic environment over three years between 2018 and 2020, a time when the world saw large-scale natural disasters, armed conflicts,

economic shocks, country-level corruption, various migration crises, and a global health crisis. The 2022 *GPEI* covers all the 79 economies that were included in the 2018 report and adds 12 additional economies. Grouped into 14 geographic regions, these 91 economies represented 85 percent of world population, 95 percent of global gross domestic product (GDP), and 41 percent of all economies in the world in 2020.

With contributions from more than 100 experts working around the world, this *Index* is a comprehensive effort to examine the enabling environment for philanthropy in 91 economies, both before and during the COVID-19 pandemic. As such, it explores how philanthropy may adapt to a post-pandemic future. Together with the 2018 *GPEI*, the 2022 *Index* offers a consistent framework and updated insights to enhance our understanding of how these factors interact to improve or constrain the philanthropic environment at the country- and regional levels. The *GPEI* serves as a useful and freely available tool for the development of policies that support philanthropy's growth in an era of health and economic challenges, and a time when leaders in every sector are searching for opportunities to address local and global priorities.

# What Is an Enabling Environment for Philanthropy and How is it Measured?

Given philanthropy's unique role in supporting sustainable development, there is a growing interest in understanding the conditions in which philanthropy can thrive and the barriers that constrain philanthropic activities in a country. This topic has become even more imperative since the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic when communities across countries have faced unprecedented challenges. Prior research suggests that enabling a positive philanthropic environment is largely shaped by external factors in a country such as the legal and regulatory framework, political stability, perception of corruption, government effectiveness, economic conditions, and sociocultural characteristics (Thindwa, Monico, & Reuben, 2003; Moore & Rutzen, 2011; Anand & Hayling, 2014; Epperly & Lee, 2015; Garcia, Osili, & Kou, 2019). However, there is still very limited global comparative research examining the various external factors that shape the philanthropic environment.

## What Is an Enabling Philanthropic Environment?

As explained in the 2018 *GPEI* report, "an enabling or favorable philanthropic environment provides adequate incentives and restrictions to positively influence the capacity and propensity of individuals and organizations to freely engage in philanthropic activities in a sustained and effective manner. This enabling environment is the product of a set of interrelated conditions that are the result of the deliberate policy choices made by government actors and the historical, cultural, and socio-political traditions, resources, and legacies" of a country or economy.

## Factors Measured in the 2022 GPEI

The 2022 *GPEI* examines the philanthropic environment between 2018 and 2020 through the lens of six factors: ease of operating a philanthropic organization, tax incentives on giving, cross-border philanthropic flows, political environment, economic environment, and socio-cultural environment for philanthropy. These six factors measure the various conditions that affect a positive climate for philanthropy.

- **1. Ease of operating a philanthropic organization** focuses on the laws and regulations for the formation, operation, and dissolution of philanthropic organizations.
- **2. Tax incentives** examines the laws and regulations governing taxes related to making and receiving donations.
- **3.** Cross-border philanthropic flows evaluates the laws and regulations governing the incentives and constraints of making and receiving cross-border donations.
- **4. Political environment** measures the relationships between the government and philanthropic organizations, as well as public policies and practices regarding philanthropy.

- **5. Economic environment** reviews the economic conditions that nurture or hinder individual and institutional philanthropy.
- **6. Socio-cultural environment** captures core societal values that provide enabling or disabling philanthropic conditions such as cultural philanthropic traditions, public trust, awareness of philanthropy, and perception of philanthropic organizations.

These six factors were evaluated through eleven indicator questions. Experts from the 91 economies provided detailed information in response to these indicator questions at the level of each country and economy. They also assessed each indicator using a score on a scale of 1 (least favorable) to 5 (most favorable). These scores were then used to create the scores at the economy, regional, and global levels. Lastly, the economy-level scores and information were discussed and evaluated by experts at the regional and global levels to improve the validity of the scores. For a detailed discussion, see the Methodology section in this report.

## What Is New In the 2022 Report?

The 2022 *GPEI* analyzes the philanthropic environment in **91 economies**, 12 of which are new additions since the 2018 *GPEI* report was published. Due to the increased number of economies, the regional level analysis was conducted in **14 regions**, providing more detailed information about the regional trends of philanthropy. For the first time, **14 regional meetings** were organized, where country and regional experts discussed key trends and the development of philanthropy in each region.

The 2022 report introduced a new factor—**the economic environment for philanthropy**. This enriched the evaluation of the enabling environment based on the other five factors measured in the 2018 report, which included ease of operating a philanthropic organization, tax incentives on giving, cross-border philanthropic flows, political environment, and socio-cultural environment for philanthropy.

The 2022 *GPEI* report further compares how the environment for philanthropy changed for the 79 economies that were included in the 2018 edition from the period between 2014 and 2017 (and through March 2018 for some economies).

The 2022 *GPEI* also asked experts to share information on the philanthropic responses to the COVID-19 pandemic in each economy. A summary of this information is included in this report.



# 2022 GPEI Global Highlights



The 2022 *Global Philanthropy Environment Index* reveals that there was modest change in the philanthropic environment at the global level between 2014–2017 and 2018–2020. The global philanthropic environment was moderately favorable (3.63) in 2018–2020.



The 2022 *GPEI* measures the enabling environment for philanthropy in 91 countries and economies, according to responses by country experts and regional reviewers. It uses a scale of 1 to 5, where 1 represents a highly restricted environment and 5 represents a highly favorable philanthropic environment. More than three-fifths (62%) of the 91 economies reported a favorable philanthropic environment (with a score of 3.50 or above) in 2018–2020. Of those, more than a quarter (26%) had a highly favorable (13%) or favorable (13%) philanthropic environment (scored 4.0 or above), 36 percent had a moderately favorable environment (scored between 3.50 and 3.99), and the remaining 38 percent scored below 3.50, indicating a restrictive environment.

Additional data analysis confirmed a positive correlation between overall philanthropic scores and gross domestic product (GDP) per capita, suggesting that economies with a more favorable environment for philanthropy were strongly linked with higher GDP per capita.





#### TABLE 1: GLOBAL PHILANTHROPY ENVIRONMENT INDEX SCORES, 2018-2020

1.50–1.99	2.00–2.49	2.50-2.99	3.00-3.49	3.50-3.99	4.00-4.49	4.50-5.00
Iran Venezuela	Belarus Egypt Sudan	Argentina China Ecuador Liberia Myanmar Nepal Qatar Saudi Arabia Turkey Vietnam	Albania Armenia Azerbaijan Bolivia Brazil Costa Rica Eswatini Hungary India Kyrgyz Republic Lebanon Mexico Nigeria Peru Portugal Russia Tanzania Thailand Zimbabwe	Bosnia and Herzegovina Bulgaria Colombia Croatia Czech Republic Ethiopia Georgia Ghana Greece Hong Kong Indonesia Israel Jamaica Jordan Kazakhstan Kenya Kosovo Kuwait Montenegro Morocco North Macedonia Pakistan Philippines Poland Republic of Korea Senegal Serbia Slovakia South Africa Spain Ukraine United Arab Emirates Uruguay	Australia Austria Barbados Canada Chile Ireland Italy Japan New Zealand Romania Taiwan United Kingdom	Belgium Denmark Finland France Germany Liechtenstein Netherlands Norway Singapore Sweden Switzerland United States



AD

AID

# Medicine



## **Results by Factor**

Among the six factors, the ease of operating a philanthropic organization scored the highest global average in 2018–2020 (3.97), followed closely by socio-cultural environment (3.82). Economic environment scored the lowest across economies (3.46) in 2018–2020 due to the economic impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic.



#### FIGURE 3: GLOBAL PHILANTHROPY ENVIRONMENT INDEX SCORES BY FACTOR, 2018-2020

#### EASE OF OPERATING A PHILANTHROPIC ORGANIZATION

Ease of operating a philanthropic organization measures the laws and regulations for the formation, operation, and dissolution of philanthropic organizations. This factor was the highest scored factor for philanthropy across economies, scoring an average of 3.97, with a score variability between 2.86 (Middle East and Northern Africa) and 5.0 (Northern Europe).

The environment in the Middle East and Northern Africa appeared to show tighter regulations surrounding forming an organization, and experts reported government monitoring and interference, including recent measures aimed at closing philanthropic organizations.



FIGURE 4: EASE OF OPERATING A PHILANTHROPIC ORGANIZATION SCORES BY REGION, 2018-2020

#### TAX INCENTIVES

The tax incentives factor examines laws and regulations governing taxes related to making and receiving donations. This factor scored an average of 3.52 globally. The tax incentives for philanthropy ranged from 2.96 (Central Asia and South Caucasus) to 4.88 (Canada and the United States) across regions.

There is a considerable range in the scores related to tax incentives. Countries in Central Asia and South Caucasus offer limited tax incentives, often with restrictive conditions or requirements, while the Middle East and Northern Africa reflects the unique tax environment of some countries (Kuwait, Saudi Arabia, and the United Arab Emirates, where there are no tax policies in effect) and a highly restrictive regulatory environment in others. On the other hand, Canada and the United States offered significant tax incentives for individual and corporate donors and philanthropic organizations.



FIGURE 5: TAX INCENTIVES SCORES BY REGION, 2018-2020

#### CROSS-BORDER PHILANTHROPIC FLOWS

The cross-border philanthropic flows factor evaluates the laws and regulations governing making and receiving cross-border donations. This factor received an average score of 3.51 globally. It presents the third largest variability range, ranging from 2.60 (Middle East and Northern Africa) to 4.75 (Northern Europe).

Cross-border giving has a significant role in both supporting the development of local philanthropy and successfully addressing global challenges. While regulations to combat money laundering and terrorist financing are important worldwide, such regulations often lead to over-regulated cross-border activities across the globe, posing constraints for philanthropic organizations.



#### FIGURE 6: CROSS-BORDER PHILANTHROPIC FLOWS SCORES BY REGION, 2018-2020

#### POLITICAL ENVIRONMENT

The political environment factor assesses the relationships between government and philanthropic organizations, as well as public policies and practices regarding philanthropy. This factor received an average score of 3.51 at the global level. Score variability ranged from 2.58 (Middle East and Northern Africa) to 4.94 (Northern Europe). This factor had the second largest variability among the six factors studied in this report.

In Northern Europe, government policies actively support philanthropy, and philanthropic organizations are invited to participate in different stages of the policymaking process. However, due to current regional challenges such as the immigration crisis or the COVID-19 pandemic, the changing political environment might affect the relationship between government and the philanthropic sector in this region in the future.



FIGURE 7: POLITICAL ENVIRONMENT SCORES BY REGION, 2018-2020

#### ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

The economic environment—**a new factor introduced in the 2022** *GPEI*—focuses on the economic conditions that nurture or hinder individual and institutional philanthropy. This factor received the lowest average score of 3.46 at the global level. The economic environment for philanthropy also showed the greatest score variability across factors, ranging from 2.0 (Caribbean) to 5.0 (Canada and the United States, Northern Europe, and Oceania). The 91 economies included in the 2022 *GPEI* represent different stages of economic development.

The economic stability of the country as well as conditions on the ground affect individual and institutional philanthropy. Crises—such as the COVID-19 pandemic, natural disasters, political unrest, country-level corruption, and various migration crises—negatively affected many economies at the national level. Regions such as Canada and the United States, Northern Europe, and Oceania reported highly favorable economic environments. On the other hand, the Caribbean cited the pandemic as a major constraint.



FIGURE 8: ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT SCORES BY REGION, 2018-2020

#### SOCIO-CULTURAL ENVIRONMENT

The socio-cultural environment factor captures core societal values that provide enabling or constraining philanthropic conditions such as cultural philanthropic traditions, public trust, awareness of philanthropy, and perception of philanthropic organizations. This factor showed a moderately favorable environment for philanthropy in 2018–2020, receiving the second highest global average score (3.82). The socio-cultural environment factor showed the smallest variability range, from 3.29 (Central Europe) to 4.75 (Canada and the United States and Northern Europe).

The socio-cultural environment for philanthropy was favorable in 10 of the 14 regions. In Canada and the United States and Northern Europe, the high average score (4.75) is due to high levels of public trust in philanthropy and higher public awareness of philanthropy and philanthropic organizations. In Central Europe, the average score (3.29) reflected a region where philanthropic organizations still depend on government funds, with little public awareness of philanthropy or the value of supporting philanthropic organizations.

The socio-cultural environment for philanthropy shows that the values and practices for philanthropy are flourishing in the regions that traditionally scored lower in terms of the regulatory environment for philanthropy. In regions such as Latin America, the Middle East and Northern Africa, and Southern and Southeastern Asia, religious giving, informal philanthropy, and community-based, grassroots initiatives are prevalent and characterize the philanthropic environment that leads to the nurturing of generosity in local communities.



#### FIGURE 9: SOCIO-CULTURAL ENVIRONMENT SCORES BY REGION, 2018-2020



## COVID-19 Pandemic and Its Impact on Philanthropy

The 2022 GPEI covers the three years from January 2018 to December 2020. This period witnessed multiple global challenges. The most prominent challenge that has had a far-reaching impact on all countries and economies is the COVID-19 pandemic. This pandemic began with the identification and spread of the novel coronavirus in December 2019, and was formally classified as a pandemic by the World Health Organization in March 2020. It has been an unprecedented health crisis, bringing to all economies longterm economic and social impact. The Indiana University Lilly Family School of Philanthropy (school), in collaboration with its network of researchers and partner organizations from around the world, conducted several research projects to help enhance our understanding of the pandemic's impact on philanthropy and how nonprofits and individuals responded across countries.

## CROSS-COUNTRY SURVEYS ON GOVERNMENT AND NONPROFIT RESPONSES

In April 2020, the school launched an open-ended qualitative survey, and invited experts who contributed to the 2018 *GPEI* to share information on how the nonprofit sector had been affected by the pandemic in their economy and how nonprofits responded. A total of 55 responses were received from 45 countries and economies. At that time, the effects of the pandemic were not yet clear, and some countries were yet to experience the worst of the crisis. Then, one year later in 2021, the school invited the contributing experts to the 2022 *GPEI* to respond to some of the same questions, in order to get an updated view of how things had changed over time. By then, all economies around the world had been affected by the pandemic to varying degrees. A total of 39 of the 45 economies that completed the 2020 survey answered the follow-up questions in the 2022 *GPEI* survey. Following is the list of the 39 economies by region.

Region	Economies of Survey-Participating Experts
Balkan Countries	Croatia, Montenegro, Serbia
Canada & the United States	United States
Central Asia & South Caucasus	Azerbaijan, Belarus, Kazakhstan, Russia
Central Europe	Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Poland, Romania, Ukraine
Eastern Asia	China, Republic of Korea, Taiwan
Latin America	Colombia, Peru
Middle East & Northern Africa	Israel, Saudi Arabia, Sudan, Turkey, United Arab Emirates
Northern Europe	Norway
Oceania	New Zealand
Southern Europe	Greece, Portugal
Southern & Southeastern Asia	India, Nepal, Pakistan
Sub-Saharan Africa	Ghana, Kenya, Morocco, Nigeria, South Africa, Zimbabwe
Western Europe	Germany, Switzerland, United Kingdom

#### TABLE 2: ECONOMIES THAT PARTICIPATED IN BOTH THE 2020 SURVEY AND THE 2022 GPEI SURVEY<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Note: Economies from the Caribbean Region did not participate in the open-ended qualitative survey in April 2020.

Questions in both surveys asked about: 1) areas where the nonprofit sector and philanthropy played a role in responding to the COVID-19 pandemic; 2) innovations and new trends in the nonprofit sector and philanthropy related to COVID-19 responses; 3) how the COVID-19 pandemic affected the environment for philanthropy; and 4) the COVID-19 pandemic's anticipated impact on the philanthropic environment in 2021.

The results of the 2022 GPEI survey showed with more clarity the evolution of the government-nonprofit relationships early in the pandemic and one year after. In places with restrictive philanthropic environments and in those where nonprofits depend on government and international resources, the government did not fully engage or support the philanthropic sector to address the consequences of the pandemic (such as Belarus, Croatia, Ghana, and Serbia). In China, the government centralized the provision of critical services to populations in need. In some countries (Israel and Zimbabwe, for instance), the unstable political environment influenced the overall economic climate, and thus also influenced donations to the philanthropic sector. However, in many cases, governments developed measures to alleviate the financial burden of the nonprofit sector. Countries such as Australia, the United Kingdom and others with more favorable philanthropic environments, experienced not only relaxation of regulations, but also mutual collaborations.

There are several other observed trends in the 2022 *GPEI* survey from some of the same economies that participated in the 2020 survey.

- **Rapid capacity development:** Around the world, the prolonged national lockdowns shifted the way nonprofits operate toward online operation and services such as online fundraising and online communications and training. In several countries such as China, Croatia, Ghana, Hungary, India, Indonesia, Nepal, North Macedonia, Romania, Singapore, Saudi Arabia, South Africa, South Korea, Turkey, the United Kingdom, and the United States, the pandemic accelerated the digital transformation of the nonprofit sector in providing services online (education and counseling), crowdfunding, coordinating activities, engaging stakeholders, volunteering, and collaborations.
- **Collaborations:** Collaborations continued to dominate the responses as the main innovation that came out of the crisis. Together with the development and extensive use of digital capacities, nonprofits partnered with and coordinated new networks of volunteers, researchers, funders, and service providers.

- **Funding flexibility:** Funding flexibility and direct support to nonprofits continued as an expansion of the trend initiated in 2020.
- **Public awareness of philanthropy:** There is consensus around the idea that the crisis increased public awareness about the importance of philanthropy. Charitable giving and the critical role of nonprofits in mitigating the impacts of the crisis became more visible and recognized by the media, along with increased social support. This support reflected increased giving by individuals and corporate donors. Countries including Belgium, Denmark, Germany, Italy, and Slovakia observed an increase in solidarity. This greater visibility provided nonprofits with a platform to advocate for those in need.
- Informal philanthropy: In countries such as Austria, China, Denmark, Germany, Slovakia, Sweden, Switzerland, and the United States, informal philanthropy was manifested in small acts of support to the organizations and staff who were working on the frontlines. In Turkey, a number of informal grassroots networks emerged. In addition, it is important to highlight that solidarity and informal philanthropy had already been present in economies where philanthropy was less structured.

Furthermore, experts anticipated the following long-lasting effects of the crisis.

- Lack of addressing structural causes of poverty and inequality: For a prolonged time, nonprofits diverted resources to alleviate the effects of the pandemic, leaving unattended the structural causes of poverty and inequality in their own countries. In Belgium, Ghana, and Nigeria, experts expected greater demands on the philanthropic sector, hence high demands for financial support in unattended areas after the COVID-19 pandemic finally ends.
- **Decline in international funding:** Experts in Ethiopia, Ghana, Indonesia, Kenya, and Zimbabwe anticipated a reduction in the amount of support available from global funds due to the extended duration of the crisis. In some cases, countries' internal economic conditions combined with the possible reduction of international funding will likely negatively affect the growth of the philanthropic sector.

- Shrinking philanthropic sectors: Experts also anticipated that the reduction of people's income could result in job losses, a reduction in services and the closure of some philanthropic organizations. Therefore, experts suggested that many small and underfunded organizations will face the greatest challenges to survive in countries with more vulnerable philanthropic sectors such as Belarus, Bosnia and Herzegovina, North Macedonia, Poland, Russia, Serbia, and Zimbabwe.
- Long-term collaborations: Experts urged that the collaborations and networks created during the pandemic must be maintained and strengthened in order to address future crises.
- Greater recognition of philanthropy: Philanthropy has a great potential to gain greater recognition because of the crisis, especially in countries where its potential was unrecognized before the COVID-19 pandemic.
- **Online giving:** More fundraising and philanthropic activities are being conducted online all around the world.
- **New funding structures:** Experts also hoped that the new flexibility from funders observed during the crisis would remain after the pandemic subsides.
- **Sustainability:** Many nonprofits are still struggling to regain financial stability. Some may disappear, especially those that entered the pandemic already financially vulnerable. Yet, many nonprofits that demonstrated resilience and adaptability will have more chances to survive.

This section was authored by Silvia Garcia, Acting Director of Research and Assessment, the Office of Community Engagement at IUPUI.

#### GLOBAL SURVEY OF PHILANTHROPIC ORGANIZATIONS

In February 2021, the school partnered with CAF America and The Resource Alliance to release a report, *Future-Proofing Nonprofits for the Post-Pandemic World: The Voice of Charities Facing COVID-19* (CAF America, 2021). This report explores how nonprofits operating in 152 countries around the world were coping with the pandemic. More than 800 organizations shared how they had managed to cope with pandemic-related challenges and indicated the skills they wanted to build in order to adapt and thrive in the long term. Digital fundraising capabilities and strategic financial planning were among the most important skills that responding nonprofits identified as essential to remaining resilient. Among other findings, approximately three-quarters (76%) of the responding organizations shared that they were interested in learning new ways of raising funds via digital technology. About three-fifths (61%) reported a need for digital tools that could help them connect better with stakeholders. The majority (91%) of the responding nonprofits<sup>2</sup> remained confident that their organization's leadership and governance were effective and could guide the organization through the pandemic. READ MORE **C** 

#### GLOBAL GENEROSITY IN TIMES OF CRISIS: GLOBAL HELPING BEHAVIORS DURING THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC

Also in 2021, a group of scholars from around the world led by Pamala Wiepking, Visiting Stead Family Chair in International Philanthropy at the Indiana University Lilly Family School of Philanthropy-studied individual giving and helping behaviors in response to the pandemic, with a view toward improving our understanding of how people express their generosity in different environments, particularly in times of crisis (Global Generosity Research, 2021). More than 20,000 people responded to surveys in 11 economies, including Australia, Austria, Iceland, Israel, Finland, Germany, Norway, Sweden, Russia, South Korea, and the United States. Generosity behaviors varied significantly across economies. People in all economies, except for South Korea, were most likely to donate money during a time of crisis. South Koreans were most likely to help strangers. In Russia and the United States, donating money was closely followed by a tendency to help strangers and to donate goods, respectively. In terms of volunteering, the United States (22.2%) had the highest percentage of volunteers during the pandemic, followed by Germany (15.3%) and Austria (12.8%). While Russia (3.6%) had the lowest percentage of volunteers during the pandemic, it stood out in terms of the total number of hours volunteered per month with an exceptional 43.5 hours. Country reports provide detailed information about generosity behaviorsincluding informal helping, formal volunteering, and charitable giving-that were displayed during the first year of the COVID-19 pandemic and provide implications for policymakers and nonprofit leaders on how to best support generosity behaviors in times of crisis. READ MORE d

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Note: A total of 788 nonprofits responded to this particular question in the survey.

## **Results by Region**

In 2018–2020, Northern Europe was the highest scoring region with an average 4.72 overall score, while the Middle East and Northern Africa was the lowest scoring region with 3.05.



#### FIGURE 10: GLOBAL PHILANTHROPY ENVIRONMENT INDEX SCORES BY REGION, 2018-2020

## **Read the Regional Analyses:**

Balkan Countries 🗗	Middle East & Northern Africa 🗗
Canada & the United States 🗗	Northern Europe 🗗
Caribbean 🗗	Oceania 🗗
Central Asia & South Caucasus 🗗	Southern & Southeastern Asia 🗗
Central Europe 🗗	Southern Europe 🗗
Eastern Asia 🖻	Sub-Saharan Africa 🖻
Latin America 🖪	Western Europe 🖪



## **Balkan Countries**



The Balkan Countries had a moderately favorable environment for philanthropy, with a regional overall score of 3.64, with no major changes observed in 2018–2020.... Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, countries in the region experienced an economic slowdown, which in turn impacted the economic environment for philanthropy. Philanthropic organizations, however, had continued to help their communitiesoften with reduced funding. The future of philanthropy is promising in the region, nonetheless; country experts anticipated more involvement from individual and corporate donors, an increasing use of online giving, and a greater number of formal and informal networks that can further enhance philanthropy at the national and regional levels. READ MORE

Economy	Ease of Operating	Tax Incentives	Cross-Border Philanthropic Flows	Political Environment	Economic Environment	Socio-Cultural Environment	Overall Score
Albania	3.60	2.40	3.00	3.25	3.00	3.50	3.13
Bosnia and Herzegovina	5.00	3.25	3.50	3.30	3.00	3.00	3.51
Croatia	4.77	3.60	3.75	3.25	2.80	3.80	3.66
Kosovo	4.60	4.25	4.10	4.15	3.00	3.50	3.93
Montenegro	4.67	3.50	4.50	3.45	2.80	3.80	3.79
North Macedonia	4.67	3.50	5.00	3.50	4.00	3.00	3.94
Serbia	4.67	3.75	3.50	3.30	3.00	3.00	3.54
Regional Average	4.57	3.46	3.91	3.46	3.09	3.37	3.64

#### 2022 GLOBAL PHILANTHROPY ENVIRONMENT INDEX SCORES FOR BALKAN COUNTRIES, BY ECONOMY AND FACTOR

## Canada & the United States



Countries in Canada and the United States region enjoyed a high degree of philanthropic freedom. Both Canada and the United States had a large and diverse philanthropic sector with minimal regulation and high participation in volunteerism and charitable giving....The region's donors grew increasingly sophisticated in their knowledge of and expectations of nonprofit organizations. Donors in Canada and the United States sought more feedback about the impact of their gifts and organizations' mission impact, governance, and management. READ MORE C

Economy	Ease of Operating	Tax Incentives	Cross-Border Philanthropic Flows	Political Environment	Economic Environment	Socio-Cultural Environment	Overall Score
Canada	3.67	5.00	4.00	4.50	5.00	4.50	4.44
United States	4.83	4.75	4.50	4.50	5.00	5.00	4.76
Regional Average	4.25	4.88	4.25	4.50	5.00	4.75	4.60

#### 2022 GLOBAL PHILANTHROPY ENVIRONMENT INDEX SCORES FOR CANADA & THE UNITED STATES, BY ECONOMY AND FACTOR

## Caribbean



The Caribbean is a diverse region that reflects strong cultures of generosity and helping one another. There was a supportive environment for philanthropy in many ways, but government bureaucracy was identified as a major barrier for philanthropic organizations. The nonprofit sector was not well funded or professionalized, making harnessing opportunities and driving innovation challenging. READ MORE C

Economy	Ease of Operating	Tax Incentives	Cross-Border Philanthropic Flows	Political Environment	Economic Environment	Socio-Cultural Environment	Overall Score
Barbados	4.67	4.50	3.50	4.50	2.00	5.00	4.03
Jamaica	4.67	4.00	3.50	4.00	2.00	3.00	3.53
Regional		4.05	0.50	4.05		4.00	0.70

#### 2022 GLOBAL PHILANTHROPY ENVIRONMENT INDEX SCORES FOR THE CARIBBEAN, BY ECONOMY AND FACTOR

Average

## Central Asia & South Caucasus



There were no major changes observed in the philanthropic environment in Central Asia and South Caucasus in 2018–2020. However, two major events in the region, the presidential elections in Belarus and the Nagorno-Karabakh war (an armed conflict between Armenia and Azerbaijan), affected the political environment in the given countries, thus affecting philanthropy. READ MORE

#### **Cross-Border** Ease of Тах Political Economic Socio-Cultural Overall Economy Philanthropic Operating Incentives Environment Environment Environment Score Flows 2.75 3.80 3.48 Armenia 3.93 3.50 3.40 3.50 Azerbaijan 3.83 1.50 3.50 3.25 4.00 4.00 3.35 2.37 1.95 1.65 2.30 2.20 2.70 2.19 Belarus 4.50 4.00 Georgia 4.00 3.80 3.00 3.00 3.72 Kazakhstan 3.67 3.85 3.95 3.75 3.50 4.00 3.79 Kyrgyz 4.00 3.00 3.50 2.50 2.00 3.00 3.00 Republic Russia 3.33 3.65 3.50 3.15 3.50 3.50 3.44 Regional Average

#### 2022 GLOBAL PHILANTHROPY ENVIRONMENT INDEX SCORES FOR CENTRAL ASIA & SOUTH CAUCASUS, BY ECONOMY AND FACTOR

## Central Europe



The assessment period (2018–2020) was most affected by the global pandemic, which also impacted the region. The impact of the pandemic and the anti-pandemic measures affected philanthropic organizations' operations both negatively in terms of the deterioration of the economic environment and loss of financial resources, and positively in terms of positive perceptions and the increased level of trust in the

philanthropic sector, as well as an increased number of new individual and corporate donors, at least temporarily. It was these organizations that responded to socio-economic problems more quickly and effectively than individual national governments, which thus hold the potential for a more positive public image. READ MORE C

Economy	Ease of Operating	Tax Incentives	Cross-Border Philanthropic Flows	Political Environment	Economic Environment	Socio-Cultural Environment	Overall Score
Bulgaria	3.83	3.75	4.25	3.50	3.00	3.00	3.56
Czech Republic	4.50	3.95	4.10	4.20	3.30	3.20	3.88
Hungary	3.83	3.25	3.50	2.25	3.00	3.00	3.14
Poland	4.00	4.00	4.50	2.50	4.00	3.00	3.67
Romania	4.13	3.00	5.00	4.35	3.90	3.80	4.03
Slovakia	4.40	4.20	4.05	3.40	3.50	3.30	3.81
Ukraine	4.73	3.95	4.05	3.85	2.40	3.70	3.78
Regional Average	4.20	3.73	4.21	3.44	3.30	3.29	3.69

#### 2022 GLOBAL PHILANTHROPY ENVIRONMENT INDEX SCORES FOR CENTRAL EUROPE, BY ECONOMY AND FACTOR

## Eastern Asia



The societies in the GPEI's Eastern Asia region—China, Hong Kong, Japan, South Korea, and Taiwan—were markedly diverse in terms of economic development, governance, and historical legacies. But they were united by the historical tendency for governmental authority to play a dominant role in defining the "public good" and delineating acceptable ways to advance it. To some degree, this slowed the development of the philanthropic and nonprofit sectors, which only started to become more professionalized and influential over the past several decades as the region's economies grew richer and matured. READ MORE C

Economy	Ease of Operating	Tax Incentives	Cross-Border Philanthropic Flows	Political Environment	Economic Environment	Socio-Cultural Environment	Overall Score
China	2.27	2.95	2.40	2.75	3.70	3.70	2.96
Hong Kong	4.33	4.25	4.75	2.85	3.50	4.00	3.95
Japan	4.67	4.25	4.50	4.50	4.00	4.50	4.40
Republic of Korea	4.47	4.10	4.25	3.85	3.00	4.00	3.94
Taiwan	4.50	3.85	4.00	4.25	4.50	4.50	4.27
Regional Average	4.05	3.88	3.98	3.64	3.74	4.14	3.90

#### 2022 GLOBAL PHILANTHROPY ENVIRONMENT INDEX SCORES FOR EASTERN ASIA, BY ECONOMY AND FACTOR

## Latin America



The Latin American region in the 2022 GPEI included all sovereign countries of South America, except Paraguay, Guyana, and Suriname. Although technically part of North America, this region continued to include Mexico, and for the first time, the Central American nation of Costa Rica. Taken altogether, these 11 countries contained approximately 89 percent of the population of the entire Latin American region. A few countries actively promoted a greater ease of operating and improved political and socio-cultural environments for the philanthropic sector, which resulted in a slight overall regional increase in these areas. The improved indicators would be much higher over the three years from 2018 to 2020 were it not for a few countries where these areas had deteriorated immensely, such as Venezuela and Argentina. READ MORE C

Economy	Ease of Operating	Tax Incentives	Cross-Border Philanthropic Flows	Political Environment	Economic Environment	Socio-Cultural Environment	Overall Score
Argentina	4.00	3.00	1.50	2.50	1.50	3.30	2.63
Bolivia	3.33	3.00	3.50	2.75	2.80	3.00	3.06
Brazil	4.33	3.00	3.00	3.00	3.00	3.00	3.22
Chile	4.63	3.40	3.75	3.90	4.00	4.30	4.00
Colombia	4.17	3.50	3.50	3.50	3.50	4.00	3.69
Costa Rica	3.83	3.50	3.00	4.00	3.00	3.50	3.47
Ecuador	3.50	2.75	3.50	3.35	1.80	3.00	2.98
Mexico	4.17	3.75	2.00	2.50	3.50	3.50	3.24
Peru	3.67	2.90	3.00	2.90	2.80	3.00	3.04
Uruguay	4.00	3.00	3.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	3.67
Venezuela	1.00	3.00	1.20	1.15	1.00	4.00	1.89
Regional Average	3.69	3.16	2.81	3.05	2.81	3.51	3.17

#### 2022 GLOBAL PHILANTHROPY ENVIRONMENT INDEX SCORES FOR LATIN AMERICA, BY ECONOMY AND FACTOR

## Middle East & Northern Africa



Between 2018 and 2020, the overall functioning environment in the MENA region was mixed.... The elected governments in the Middle East and Northern Africa region were imposing restrictions, and unelected governments were relaxing existing restrictions. It is not unusual. This has been the trend in all countries: unelected (military) governments tend to promote philanthropic organizations in order to neutralize political activism by keeping political parties at bay; the elected governments formed by political parties reverse the trend not to be outshined or outperformed by the philanthropic organizations in programs that benefit the public (Hasan, 2017b). The future of philanthropic organizations in the MENA region is uncertain at best. READ MORE

Economy	Ease of Operating	Tax Incentives	Cross-Border Philanthropic Flows	Political Environment	Economic Environment	Socio-Cultural Environment	Overall Score
Egypt	1.83	2.75	1.25	1.75	3.50	3.00	2.35
Iran	1.50	3.00	2.00	1.00	1.50	2.30	1.88
Israel	4.50	3.50	3.50	3.75	4.00	4.50	3.96
Jordan	3.00	4.25	3.50	3.00	3.50	4.00	3.54
Kuwait	3.33	3.40	3.70	3.75	4.00	4.00	3.70
Lebanon	3.83	3.00	2.50	2.75	3.00	5.00	3.35
Morocco	4.17	3.00	3.25	3.00	4.00	5.00	3.74
Qatar	2.00	2.50	2.00	1.00	5.00	3.00	2.58
Saudi Arabia	2.00	N.A.	1.00	4.00	4.00	3.50	2.90
Sudan	2.67	2.25	2.50	2.00	1.50	4.00	2.49
Turkey	2.17	2.00	3.00	2.00	2.50	4.00	2.61
United Arab Emirates	3.33	N.A.	3.00	3.00	5.00	3.50	3.57
Regional Average	2.86	2.97	2.60	2.58	3.46	3.82	3.05

#### 2022 GLOBAL PHILANTHROPY ENVIRONMENT INDEX SCORES FOR MIDDLE EAST & NORTHERN AFRICA, BY ECONOMY AND FACTOR



## Informal Philanthropy

Informal philanthropy and generosity can be found in all cultures. Unregistered, community-based organizations, mutual aid programs, and helping in someone's own neighborhood— these are some of the many forms of informal philanthropy that shape and enhance the overall philanthropic environment. Informal philanthropy is often understood as giving money or time directly to people in need, not through an organization. Therefore, donating money to charities, volunteering with organizations, and donating blood are usually considered formal ways of practicing philanthropy, while giving money and time directly to friends, neighbors, or strangers is typically understood as informal philanthropy. This report follows this definition. In the 2022 *GPEI*, more than half (47) of the

included countries and economies highlighted the relevance and importance of informal philanthropy.

In the Caribbean, Southern and Southeastern Asia, and Sub-Saharan Africa, informal philanthropy is a key societal value and part of the philanthropic traditions of local communities. Thus, the philanthropic sector continues to depend heavily on direct giving and helping in many of the countries in these regions. In countries in Latin America, Northern Europe, and Western Europe, country experts reported that crises such as the COVID-19 pandemic or a migration crisis led to an increase in informal philanthropic activities and programs, because informal philanthropy can provide community-focused, flexible,



and fast responses to various challenges. Countries from Northern Europe to Southern and Southeastern Asia reported a growth in informal philanthropy due to emerging technological innovations as well as the growing trend for donors to support social movements and grassroots organizations.

In Indonesia, young donors created a new wave of activism and philanthropy using innovative and informal approaches often supported by information technology. In Sweden, social media allowed informal philanthropy to slowly emerge, especially in terms of communication; still, online donations are relatively low. In Denmark, informal networks and social media groups became the primary platforms for mobilization and coordination of the support for vulnerable communities. Three-fourths (69) of the countries and economies also mentioned volunteering as part of their philanthropy. In some countries, volunteering is long-time part of the philanthropic tradition, and in others, the incidence of volunteering increased in times of crisis to address societal needs caused by natural disasters, armed conflicts, or public health issues. Additionally, more and more governments implemented legislation to encourage volunteering among young people and foster citizen engagement and solidarity in their countries.

## Northern Europe



With an average score of 4.72, Northern Europe was characterized by high levels of organizational freedom and civic participation as well as by a policy environment favorable to philanthropy. Philanthropy is deeply rooted in the culture of Nordic societies and the importance of individual giving, venture philanthropy, and social investment was increasing while government funding remained a significant source of revenue for philanthropic organizations in the region. On average, tax incentives available to donors and philanthropic organizations were still less favorable in some Nordic countries than was the case in Canada and the United States and Oceania, but the levels of time donations (volunteering) were quite high in comparative terms. READ MORE C

Economy	Ease of Operating	Tax Incentives	Cross-Border Philanthropic Flows	Political Environment	Economic Environment	Socio-Cultural Environment	Overall Score
Denmark	5.00	4.00	4.00	5.00	5.00	5.00	4.67
Finland	5.00	3.50	5.00	5.00	5.00	5.00	4.75
Norway	5.00	4.00	5.00	5.00	5.00	5.00	4.83
Sweden	5.00	4.00	5.00	4.75	5.00	4.00	4.63
Regional Average	5.00	3.88	4.75	4.94	5.00	4.75	4.72

2022 GLOBAL PHILANTHROPY ENVIRONMENT INDEX SCORES FOR NORTHERN EUROPE, BY ECONOMY AND FACTOR

## Oceania



The environment for philanthropy in the region was generally favorable. While there were some changes between 2018 and 2020, generally these were relatively minor and overall the environment had remained stable.... It was important for governments to prioritize the completion of reviews of charity legislation and implementation of responses to these reviews, as well as prioritizing reforms to other aspects of the taxation and regulatory framework for philanthropic organizations. READ MORE C

Economy	Ease of Operating	Tax Incentives	Cross-Border Philanthropic Flows	Political Environment	Economic Environment	Socio-Cultural Environment	Overall Score
Australia	4.30	4.00	4.30	4.00	5.00	4.00	4.27
New Zealand	4.50	4.50	4.00	4.25	5.00	4.00	4.38
Regional Average	4.40	4.25	4.15	4.13	5.00	4.00	4.32

#### 2022 GLOBAL PHILANTHROPY ENVIRONMENT INDEX SCORES FOR OCEANIA, BY ECONOMY AND FACTOR

## Southern & Southeastern Asia



Beyond sharing strong socio-cultural foundations for philanthropy, the countries included in the Southern and Southeastern Asia region for the 2022 GPEI—India, Indonesia, Myanmar, Nepal, Pakistan, Philippines, Singapore, Thailand, and Vietnam—demonstrated distinct philanthropic environments and trends from 2018 to 2020. Overall, there was a modest increase in the score for the region, with all countries except for the Philippines staying close to their overall scores from the 2018 GPEI or showing some improvement. READ MORE C

Economy	Ease of Operating	Tax Incentives	Cross-Border Philanthropic Flows	Political Environment	Economic Environment	Socio-Cultural Environment	Overall Score
India	3.17	2.75	2.50	3.25	4.00	4.00	3.28
Indonesia	4.00	3.00	3.50	3.25	4.00	5.00	3.79
Myanmar	2.73	2.00	2.45	3.00	3.50	3.50	2.86
Nepal	3.07	2.65	2.00	2.90	3.00	3.50	2.85
Pakistan	4.00	4.00	3.50	4.50	3.00	4.00	3.83
Philippines	3.83	4.00	4.25	3.00	3.00	4.50	3.76
Singapore	5.00	4.80	4.00	4.80	4.50	4.00	4.52
Thailand	3.33	3.00	3.00	3.00	3.00	4.00	3.22
Vietnam	2.43	2.50	1.85	3.00	2.70	4.00	2.75
Regional Average	3.51	3.19	3.01	3.41	3.41	4.06	3.43

#### 2022 GLOBAL PHILANTHROPY ENVIRONMENT INDEX SCORES FOR SOUTHERN & SOUTHEASTERN ASIA, BY ECONOMY AND FACTOR
## Southern Europe



The COVID-19 pandemic was listed as the main challenge for philanthropy in the region but also as an opportunity in terms of the need to respond to this crisis and to develop new ways of working, being more flexible and collaborating with government and other actors to create synergies.... Philanthropy seemed to have a relatively stable legal environment in Southern Europe compared to other parts of the world.... There was, however, concern that anti-money laundering and anti-terrorism legislation introduced more reporting requirements on the Southern European philanthropy sector. READ MORE C

Economy	Ease of Operating	Tax Incentives	Cross-Border Philanthropic Flows	Political Environment	Economic Environment	Socio-Cultural Environment	Overall Score
Greece	4.63	4.00	3.75	3.30	3.10	2.40	3.53
Italy	4.77	4.50	4.20	4.50	3.80	4.50	4.38
Portugal	4.00	3.65	3.30	4.00	3.00	3.00	3.49
Spain	4.33	3.75	4.00	3.50	4.00	3.40	3.83
Regional Average	4.43	3.98	3.81	3.83	3.48	3.33	3.81

## 2022 GLOBAL PHILANTHROPY ENVIRONMENT INDEX SCORES FOR SOUTHERN EUROPE, BY ECONOMY AND FACTOR

## Sub-Saharan Africa



Over the last two decades, we have seen a growth in highprofile Africans giving to big causes across the continent.... One of the important lessons from the previous decades was that as the number of wealthy individuals/families/ corporations grew, there was a high likelihood of an increase in the amounts set aside for philanthropic causes. Studies concluded that giving by high net worth individuals (HNWI) was mostly local; most donations, however, went towards social services and welfare relief, and most of the large gifts were directed at the public sector.... Very few nongovernmental organizations received more than 50% of their budgets from Africa's HNWIs. READ MORE C

Economy	Ease of Operating	Tax Incentives	Cross-Border Philanthropic Flows	Political Environment	Economic Environment	Socio-Cultural Environment	Overall Score
Eswatini	4.67	3.00	3.50	2.50	2.00	3.00	3.11
Ethiopia	3.87	3.55	3.60	3.90	2.80	4.00	3.62
Ghana	3.83	3.00	3.50	3.25	3.50	4.00	3.51
Kenya	4.00	3.00	4.00	3.50	3.50	3.00	3.50
Liberia	4.00	1.50	2.50	3.00	2.00	3.00	2.67
Nigeria	3.83	3.00	3.00	2.75	3.00	4.00	3.26
Senegal	4.67	3.00	3.25	4.25	3.50	5.00	3.94
South Africa	4.33	4.00	2.75	4.00	2.00	4.00	3.51
Tanzania	2.67	4.00	3.75	2.50	3.00	3.00	3.15
Zimbabwe	3.67	2.00	2.95	3.60	3.10	3.00	3.05
Regional Average	3.95	3.01	3.28	3.33	2.84	3.60	3.33

#### 2022 GLOBAL PHILANTHROPY ENVIRONMENT INDEX SCORES FOR SUB-SAHARAN AFRICA, BY ECONOMY AND FACTOR

## Western Europe



Despite COVID-19, only a few changes were reported from the nine Western European countries. Basically, the environment remained stable and favorable for philanthropy. Legal frameworks were predictable, as were politics in most countries. Minor changes in tax law both for philanthropic organizations and for donors slightly improved the situation for philanthropic organizations. Within the EU, there was an intensive collaboration between the public sector and philanthropic organizations. In particular, Austria, Belgium, France, Germany, the Netherlands, and Switzerland could still be characterized as corporatist regimes with a strong and stable axis between philanthropic organizations and the public sector. In Ireland and the United Kingdom, philanthropic organizations continued to have a strong and autonomous position as actors. READ MORE

Economy	Ease of Operating	Tax Incentives	Cross-Border Philanthropic Flows	Political Environment	Economic Environment	Socio-Cultural Environment	Overall Score
Austria	5.00	4.50	4.00	4.50	4.00	4.00	4.33
Belgium	5.00	4.50	4.50	5.00	5.00	4.50	4.75
France	4.33	5.00	4.00	5.00	4.50	5.00	4.64
Germany	4.67	5.00	4.00	5.00	5.00	5.00	4.78
Ireland	4.73	4.25	4.25	4.00	3.80	4.50	4.26
Liechtenstein	4.93	4.90	4.90	4.90	5.00	4.80	4.91
Netherlands	5.00	4.75	5.00	4.75	4.50	4.50	4.75
Switzerland	5.00	4.85	4.50	4.60	5.00	5.00	4.83
United Kingdom	4.67	4.00	4.00	3.75	4.00	4.00	4.07
Regional Average	4.82	4.64	4.35	4.61	4.53	4.59	4.59

#### 2022 GLOBAL PHILANTHROPY ENVIRONMENT INDEX SCORES FOR WESTERN EUROPE, BY ECONOMY AND FACTOR



## Results by Economy

In 2018–2020, the economy with the highest average overall score was Liechtenstein, at 4.91, followed by Norway (4.83), Switzerland (4.83), Germany (4.78), and the United States (4.76).

Liechtenstein (4.91) had a highly favorable regulatory, political, economic, and socio-cultural environment for philanthropy. Liechtenstein allowed tax deductions for charitable contributions to domestic philanthropic organizations as well as to organizations located in the European Economic Area (EEA) and Switzerland for both individuals and businesses. Liechtenstein's philanthropic sector benefits from a strong tradition of philanthropic values modeled by the princely family and taught in schools.



FIGURE 11: GLOBAL PHILANTHROPY ENVIRONMENT INDEX COUNTRIES WITH THE HIGHEST AND LOWEST SCORES, 2018-2020

The countries with the most restrictive philanthropic environments were Iran (1.88), Venezuela (1.89), Belarus (2.19), Egypt (2.35), and Sudan (2.49).

Venezuela (1.89) and Iran (1.88) were the only countries that scored below 2.0, signaling that the environment for philanthropy was hostile in these countries between 2018 and 2020. In Venezuela, government exercised strict regulation of philanthropic organizations, and registration authorities engaged in corrupt practices; new controls and prohibitions were implemented in terms of receiving and sending cross-border donations, and both the political and economic environments were restrictive. However, Venezuela illustrated that cultural traditions and societal values can still support philanthropy: civil society organizations continued to pursue new projects despite hostile regulatory, political, and economic environments.

## Global Changes and Their Impact on Philanthropy

The COVID-19 pandemic transformed philanthropy in many parts of the world. Based on the narratives provided by country experts and regional reviewers, nearly half (45) of country experts reported a slowdown in economic growth due to the pandemic, and therefore many households became more financially conservative, as the capacity and resilience of philanthropic organizations often weakened during the pandemic. However, the pandemic also opened opportunities for innovation and impact. As shared by country experts from around the world, philanthropic organizations implemented new technologies to access various stakeholders more efficiently, advocated for more favorable regulations, and collaborated with governments, corporations, and communities to successfully address challenges. The pandemic disproportionally affected different populations, leading to excessive restrictions on freedom of assembly while encouraging everyday giving. The kinds of causes that were supported shifted in some countries because of the pandemic, and left other societal and economic challenges overlooked and unattended.

People came together to support the fight against the COVID-19 pandemic by volunteering, supporting local initiatives, or donating to national recovery funds. Here are a few examples. In Myanmar, millions were donated to private funds to support COVID-19 prevention and response activities in 2020. In Nigeria, the pandemic led to increased awareness and generosity toward vulnerable groups. In countries including China and Kazakhstan, many people—including high net worth individuals—were more inclined to donate.

Social and economic inequality and universal human rights remained important issues to be addressed by philanthropic organizations. Philanthropic organizations in many countries responded to issues related to social justice and inequality.

Philanthropic organizations were able to raise awareness of and develop solutions for various issues such as educational inequality (United Kingdom), economic empowerment (Nigeria), social exclusion in rural areas (Italy), social equity (Ghana, South Korea) and the protection of human rights (Hong Kong) in 2018–2020. However, support for philanthropic organizations focusing on human rights and gender issues continued to be jeopardized by some governments (Eswatini, Hungary, Kenya, Myanmar) by restricting or prohibiting the establishment and operation of such organizations.

Anti-money laundering and counter-terrorism regulations continued to hinder cross-border philanthropic flows. Global challenges such as the COVID-19 pandemic and the subsequent vaccine development and distribution, highlighted the importance of cross-border donations in our increasingly globalized world. The 2020 Global Philanthropy Tracker<sup>3</sup> (Indiana University Lilly Family School of Philanthropy) reported that philanthropic outflows from 47 economies contributed USD 68 billion in 2018. Additional data analysis confirmed a positive correlation between the overall philanthropic environment scores and the amount of philanthropic outflows captured by the 2020 Global Philanthropy Tracker, suggesting that economies with more favorable environments for philanthropy were linked with higher amounts of philanthropic outflows. In 2020, leading philanthropists, governments, international organizations, and philanthropic organizations called for more efficient giving channels and the establishment of global funds such as the COVID-19 Solidarity Response Fund launched by the WHO. Despite the urgent need for cross-border giving, 32 percent of the 79 economies included in both the 2018 and 2022 GPEI reported continuous and burdensome regulatory requirements for sending or receiving cross-border donations in 2018–2020, often due to anti-money-laundering and counter-terrorism disclosure requirements.

In 2018–2020, philanthropy played an important role in addressing humanitarian catastrophes—from hunger and armed conflicts to refugee crises. According to World Vision (2018, 2019, 2020), three of the worst disasters that appeared in consecutive years between 2018–2020 were the economic and political instability in Venezuela, the Syrian civil war and refugee crisis, and the Yemeni civil war and food crises. By December 2020, nearly one million Rohingya were forced to flee their home country, Myanmar (United Nations, 2021). Additionally, hunger in Africa also led to unprecedented suffering and migration in 2018–2020. By the end of 2020,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Indiana University Lilly Family School of Philanthropy released the 2020 Global Philanthropy Tracker, the first report to offer a holistic view of the scale and scope of crossborder giving worldwide. The report measured cross-border philanthropic outflows from 47 countries at all stages of economic development and also included data on official development assistance, remittances, and other private investments. In 2018, the 47 economies included in the report contributed a combined USD 834 billion through all of the four cross-border flows.



more than 82 million people had been forcibly displaced, escaping from persecution, human rights violations, armed conflicts, or events that seriously disturbed the public order (United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, 2021).

According to the United Nations Refugee Agency (2020), the top three countries of origin of refugees were Syria, Venezuela, and Afghanistan, and 86 percent of the world's refugees and Venezuelans displaced abroad were hosted by developing countries. Based on the *Global Humanitarian Assistance Report 2020*, private donors contributed USD 6.8 billion to international humanitarian assistance in 2019, individuals being the largest source (74%) of private donations, and non-governmental organizations receiving the largest proportion (85%) of donations in 2019 (Development Initiatives, 2021). Migration and refugee crises affected almost all regions. Philanthropic organizations across the globe had to address various societal challenges such as the provision of basic needs, housing, and education for refugees and displaced people.

Due to the Nagorno-Karabakh War, an armed conflict between Azerbaijan and Artsakh in 2020, the role and responsibility of philanthropy drastically increased in Armenia and Azerbaijan. In Armenia, philanthropic organizations focused on supporting displaced families as well as families that were affected by the war. In Azerbaijan, many philanthropic organizations turned to focus on the relief, recovery, and reconstruction of Karabakh and the safe return of internally displaced individuals. Natural disasters led to international collaborations and an increased level of domestic and cross-border humanitarian assistance. Natural disasters also highlighted the urgent nature of climate change. The Indonesian earthquakes and tsunami, the Pakistani heat wave, floods in India, Japan, and Nigeria in 2018, the

Albanian earthquake, the Amazonian rainforest wildfires, Cyclone Idai in 2019, Australian fires, Hurricanes Eta and Iota, and the Croatian earthquake in 2020 are just a handful of examples of natural disasters that affected the globe in 2018–2020. During this time period, more than 1,000 natural disasters happened across the world, affecting more than 250 million people (Centre for Research on the Epidemiology of Disasters, 2019, 2020, 2021). In 2018, a group of foundations and philanthropists pledged at the 2018 Global Climate Action Summit (GCAS) to donate USD 4 billion to address climate change, and to raise that number to USD 6 billion by 2025. According to the Funding Trends 2021: Climate Change Mitigation Philanthropy report, philanthropic giving focused on climate change grew by almost 14 percent from 2019 to 2020, with a contribution of USD 6-10 billion in 2020, individuals being the largest source (67-80%) followed by foundations (20-33%)(ClimateWorks Global Intelligence, 2021).

# Setting the Stage

## LEGAL FORMS OF PHILANTHROPIC ORGANIZATIONS

Legal forms of philanthropic organizations vary across the globe. Associations (86%) and foundations (77%) have remained the most common legal forms in the economies included in the report. Cooperatives and trusts are also common types of philanthropic organizations. Two-fifths (41%) of the economies also reported other legal forms of philanthropic organizations, which shows the diverse legal framework of institutionalized philanthropy.



## FIGURE 12: LEGAL FORMS OF PHILANTHROPIC ORGANIZATIONS, 2018-2020

## CAUSES SUPPORTED BY PHILANTHROPIC ORGANIZATIONS

According to the country experts' responses regarding the top five causes supported by philanthropy, basic needs (59%) remained the most common philanthropic cause with which philanthropic organizations were primarily involved in 2018–2020. Basic needs was followed by health and medical research (53%), arts and culture (52%), early childhood education through high school (46%), human rights (38%), and youth and family (38%).

## FIGURE 13: PHILANTHROPIC CAUSES, 2018-2020



### REGISTRATION OF PHILANTHROPIC ORGANIZATIONS

Measures of time, cost, and level of registration provide supplemental information to understand the ease of registering philanthropic organizations worldwide. On one hand, effective registration processes such as digital registration services, clear rules and regulations, and relatively quick and transparent review and approval processes, can make the philanthropic sector flourish. On the other hand, excessive registration time, complex and burdensome registration processes, and high direct or indirect registration fees, can indicate barriers in the sector.

#### **Registration level**

Centralized registration processes can be found in more than two-fifths (44%) of the economies included in the report, while one-third (36%) of the economies reported that the registration of philanthropic organizations happened on more than one level.

## FIGURE 14: GOVERNMENT REGISTRATION LEVELS, 2018-2020



#### **Registration cost**

Nearly half of the economies had no fee (17%) or registration fees below USD 100 (31%). The most common cost of registration remained between USD 100 and USD 1,000 with 33 percent of the economies requiring a registration fee in this range.





#### **Registration time**

Most of the economies participating in this research had a reasonable time for registration, of no more than 30 days (41%) or 31–60 days (27%). However, there were still many economies where the registration time seemed onerous, as registration time could take more than 90 days in some places (14%).



#### FIGURE 16: AVERAGE REGISTRATION TIME, 2018-2020

# Changes over Time between 2014–2017 and 2018–2020

The following sections examine how the global philanthropic environment has changed over time by comparing the **79 economies** included in both the 2018 and 2022 *Indices*. These sections focus only on the **five factors** that were used to analyze the countries' philanthropic environment in both indices years: ease of operating a philanthropic organization, tax incentives, cross-border philanthropic flows, political environment, and socio-cultural environment for philanthropy.



The 2022 *GPEI* reveals that the overall philanthropic environment improved slightly from 2014–2017 to 2018–2020. Comparing the 79 economies included in both the 2018 and 2022 indices, an overall modest improvement in the global philanthropic environment can be seen, as the average global score slightly increased from 3.64 in 2014–2017 to 3.67 in 2018–2020. Sub-Saharan Africa experienced the highest level of increase in the overall score, while the Middle East and Northern Africa and Southern Europe showed the highest level of decrease in the overall score.





## Changes by Factor between 2014–2017 and 2018–2020

The average overall score of the 79 economies slightly increased (0.8%) between 2014–2017 and 2018–2020. Among the five factors studied in both indices, political environment had the largest score increase globally (2.8%), while the environment for cross-border giving had the largest decline (-1.9%) between 2014–2017 and 2018–2020.



FIGURE 19: PERCENTAGE OF ECONOMIES WITH CHANGES AFFECTING THE PHILANTHROPIC SECTOR BY FACTOR BETWEEN 2014-2017 AND 2018-2020



Changes in Overall Scores between 2014–2017 and 2018–2020



Changes in Cross-Border Philanthropic Flows between 2014–2017 and 2018–2020



Changes in Ease of Operating between 2014–2017 and 2018–2020



Changes in Political Environment between 2014–2017 and 2018–2020

Increase 🔵 Decrease 🛛 🔵 Stable



Changes in Tax Incentives between 2014–2017 and 2018–2020



Changes in Socio-Cultural Environment between 2014–2017 and 2018–2020

## CHANGES IN EASE OF OPERATING A PHILANTHROPIC ORGANIZATION

Sub-Saharan Africa reported the highest level of improvement (+11%) between 2014–2017 and 2018–2020, while Canada and the United States experienced the biggest drop (-11%). Countries in Sub-Saharan Africa experienced an increase due to the fact that the registration and operation of philanthropic organizations became more consistent and transparent. Regions that saw a decrease reported strict governance rules, severe administrative guidance, and practices that threaten organizations' charitable status or operation. In Canada and the United States region, Canada reported burdensome administrative guidance introduced by the Canada Revenue Agency in 2018–2020.

Overall, experts indicated that the ease of operating a philanthropic organization improved in 36 economies, which balanced with decreases observed in 35 economies.

FIGURE 20: PERCENTAGE OF CHANGE IN THE EASE OF OPERATING SCORE IN 79 ECONOMIES BY REGION BETWEEN 2014-2017 AND 2018-2020



### CHANGES IN TAX INCENTIVES

The Balkan Countries reported the highest level of improvements (+7%), while Sub-Saharan Africa experienced the largest drop (-5%) between 2014–2017 and 2018–2020 in terms of the tax incentives provided to donors and philanthropic organizations. Economies in the regions of Balkan Countries and Central Europe reported relatively transparent tax policies that seem to be slowly improving. In Sub-Saharan Africa, some country experts reported fairly limited tax incentives for donations, and philanthropic organizations often faced non-transparent, onerous, and arbitrary registration processes to receive tax-exempt status.

According to country experts, the tax incentives factor improved in 29 economies, decreased in 22 economies, and did not indicate any change in 28 economies. Additionally, three economies in the Middle East and Northern Africa region—Kuwait, Saudi Arabia, and the United Arab Emirates—scored "not applicable" (N.A.) since these economies do not have general income tax policies.

## 7% 6% 3% 3% 3% 2% Change in Global Average: 1.0% 1% 1% -2% -3% -4% -4% -5% Western Europe **Balkan** Countries Central Europe Northern Europe Canada & the United States Southern & Southeastern Asia Middle East & Northern Africa Southern Europe Central Asia & South Caucasus Sub-Saharan Africa Latin America Eastern Asia Oceania

# FIGURE 21: PERCENTAGE OF CHANGE IN THE TAX INCENTIVES SCORE IN 79 ECONOMIES BY REGION BETWEEN 2014-2017 AND 2018-2020

## CHANGES IN CROSS-BORDER PHILANTHROPIC FLOWS

Despite significant funding efforts provided by major philanthropists and philanthropic organizations, cross-border giving remained only moderately favorable across economies in 2018–2020. The global average score for cross-border giving among the 79 economies was 3.51 in 2018–2020, a slight decrease from the global average of 3.58 in 2014–2017. Sub-Saharan Africa reported the highest level of improvement (+9%), while Latin America and the Middle East and Northern Africa experienced the biggest drop (both by -16%) between 2018 and 2022. In some Sub-Saharan African countries, registration for and approval of receiving cross-border donations became less restrictive. However, some countries in Latin America and the Middle East and Northern Africa suffered from heavily regulated cross-border philanthropic flows, because of practices that restricted philanthropic inflows and/or outflows with high costs and burdensome administrative requirements. According to country experts, the environment for cross-border philanthropic flows improved in 22 economies, worsened in 28 economies, and remained the same in 29 economies.



FIGURE 22: PERCENTAGE OF CHANGE IN THE CROSS-BORDER PHILANTHROPIC FLOWS SCORE IN 79 ECONOMIES BY REGION BETWEEN 2014-2017 AND 2018-2020

## CHANGES IN POLITICAL ENVIRONMENT

The global average score for the political environment among the 79 economies was 3.51 in 2018–2020, a moderate increase from the global average of 3.41 in 2014–2017. Twenty-five economies experienced a decline, while 28 economies reported a more favorable political environment for philanthropy. Sub-Saharan Africa reported the highest level of improvement (+25%), while Central Asia and South Caucasus and Southern and Southeastern Asia (approximately -2% for both) experienced a slight drop between 2014–2017 and 2018–2020. In countries where the political environment improved, country experts indicated the implementation of new policies and an increased number of cross-sectoral collaborations as the primary reasons.

## FIGURE 23: PERCENTAGE OF CHANGE IN THE POLITICAL ENVIRONMENT SCORE IN 79 ECONOMIES BY REGION BETWEEN 2014-2017 AND 2018-2020





## CHANGES IN SOCIO-CULTURAL ENVIRONMENT

The socio-cultural environment experienced the smallest change between 2014–2017 and 2018–2020. Southern and Southeastern Asia reported the highest level of improvement (+13%), as each country of the region experienced a growth in philanthropy due to various relief and recovery efforts in response to natural disasters and the COVID-19 pandemic, which also served to further strengthen existing values and practices of philanthropy. Canada and the United States and Western Europe experienced a slight drop (both at -5%) between 2014–2017 and 2018–2020; however, Canada and the United States (on par with Northern Europe) still had the highest regional score for the socio-cultural environment for philanthropy (4.75), followed by Western Europe (4.57). In Canada, many philanthropic organizations were originally founded on a religious basis; charitable giving to religious organizations has declined in general as Canadian society has become more secular. In Western Europe, experts indicated that trust in philanthropic organizations declined in Austria and the Netherlands. Overall, 20 economies reported an improvement in the socio-cultural environment for philanthropy, while 18 economies reported a decline. Forty-one economies reported no change in terms of their socio-cultural environment between 2014–2017 and 2018–2020.

## FIGURE 24: PERCENTAGE OF CHANGE IN THE SOCIO-CULTURAL ENVIRONMENT SCORE IN 79 ECONOMIES BY REGION BETWEEN 2014-2017 AND 2018-2020



## Changes by Region between 2014–2017 and 2018–2020

The five factors covered in both indices moderately improved in the Balkan Countries, Northern Europe, Southern and Southeastern Asia, and Sub-Saharan Africa, but such improvements were balanced by a slight decrease in regions including Canada and the United States, Latin America, the Middle East and Northern Africa, Oceania, and Southern Europe.

In Northern Europe, a deep-rooted philanthropic culture is augmented with the successful adoption of innovative, hybrid philanthropic vehicles such as venture philanthropy and social investment, and philanthropic organizations rapidly implemented digital solutions during the pandemic. Southern and Southeastern Asia also reported a strong cultural heritage of philanthropy and a significantly improved environment for philanthropy in many of the region's economies. Even though there were only modest score changes in some regions and at the global level, many countries witnessed improvements or declines by factor. These positive and negative changes were often balanced out at the regional and global level.

Read more in the country and regional reports at globalindices.iupui.edu. READ MORE C



# Looking Ahead

## 2021-A YEAR FILLED WITH CHALLENGES

This report provides an overview of the philanthropic environment in 91 countries and economies in 2018–2020. In many parts of the world, circumstances are fluid and can change rapidly. Unfortunately, the year 2021 provided a plethora of examples where societies faced a rapid decline in the regulatory, political, economic, and/or socio-cultural environment for philanthropy. The prolonged COVID-19 pandemic and its economic impact, new laws and regulations, and regime changes and military coups all posed challenges for the operation of philanthropic organizations and the growth of philanthropy across the globe.

Changes that have affected the philanthropic environment since January 2021 will be captured and comprehensively presented in the next iteration of the *GPEI*.



## COVID-19 pandemic and its far-reaching socio-economic implications in Ghana

The COVID-19 pandemic disrupted economic activities and constrained delivery of public services provided by philanthropic organizations in Ghana. Pandemic-related restrictions implemented by the government challenged the operation and service delivery of many philanthropic organizations in the country. Several philanthropic organizations had to shut down due to the lack of technological capacity, the high cost of Internet service, and the lack of expertise and skills to use necessary software that were all required to effectively maintain the organizations' operations during lockdowns. Philanthropic organizations also experienced an extreme level of decline in international funding, as many international funders were also struggling to survive. Thus, international non-governmental organizations were forced to redefine their focus or cancel some of their projects in Ghana.

Sources: Tijani, 2022; West Africa Civil Society Institute, 2022.



## Coup d'état in Myanmar

Since the military coup d'état on February 1, 2021, the philanthropic environment has quickly deteriorated in Myanmar. Military orders issued by the State Administration Council made the environment for philanthropy extremely challenging. Human rights and democracy advocates have been arrested, and by the end of August 2021, more than 100 people working for philanthropic organizations were in detention, five of them already sentenced. Philanthropic organizations' bank accounts have been massively monitored or frozen by the government. Funding for civil society organizations, especially from foreign donors, has severely declined, and was often suspended, leading to financial uncertainty experienced by nearly 90 percent of civil society organizations were forced to shut down due to recently implemented constraints and restrictions.

Sources: CIVICUS, 2021a; CIVICUS, 2022; International Center for Not-for-Profit Law, 2021; Liu, 2021.



## New laws and regulations in Hong Kong

Due to the 2020 National Security Law and new guidelines on charities, human rights organizations and opposition-leaning philanthropic organizations ceased their operation in 2021. Amnesty International announced the closing of their two offices in Hong Kong due to "Hong Kong's national security law, which has made it effectively impossible for human rights organizations in Hong Kong to work freely and without fear of serious reprisals from the government." Fundraising activities are likely to be challenged as well. Additionally, in September 2021, Hong Kong's financial services chief informed charities, which are exempted from taxes based on the current regulations, that charities which endanger national security could lose their charitable status under the updated Tax Guide for Charitable Institutions and Trusts of a Public Character.

Sources: Amnesty International, 2021; CIVICUS, 2021b; Hong Kong Council of Social Service, 2021.



## Challenges facing philanthropic organizations in Mexico

The Mexican government announced various reforms on the Penal Code and Income Tax Law in 2021 that could threaten the operation of philanthropic organizations in Mexico. According to the proposed amendments, philanthropic organizations will be subject to additional reporting requirements if receiving donations from abroad, which could lead to burdensome administrative requirements and stigmatization of foreignfunded philanthropic organizations. Additionally, based on the proposed 2022 Economic Package, deductions for donations and contributions for retirement will be limited at up to 15 percent of the taxpayer's income, which could discourage individuals' charitable contributions in the future. These legal changes could further challenge the sustainable financial operation of thousands of philanthropic organizations, as restrictions on selfgenerated income and extreme reduction of federal funding have already negatively affected these organizations.

Sources: Mexicanos Contra La Corrupción y la Impunidad, 2021; Rodríguez, 2021; United States Agency for International Development, 2021.

## THE FUTURE OF PHILANTHROPY

According to country experts in the 91 economies included in the 2022 *GPEI*, the future of philanthropy will be characterized by new technologies and the digitalization of giving. Detailed country reports also suggest that philanthropy has become more formalized and institutionalized across the world. Due to the current global environment, building collaborations across different sectors and cultivating higher levels of awareness of the work and impact of philanthropic organizations will be indispensable for the future.

Philanthropy is and will remain present everywhere. In times of crises, as well as in our everyday lives, philanthropy has played a significant role in addressing systemic problems and offering innovative solutions to local and global challenges. While the development of institutionalized philanthropy varies between countries, informal philanthropy is widely practiced in societies across the world. The COVID-19 pandemic spurred high levels of human generosity, often crossing national borders to support the most vulnerable communities. By raising awareness of the importance of creating a positive philanthropy, thereby helping it address the key issues of the future, from sustainable development to climate change to creating an environment where all human beings can flourish.



# Limitations and Directions for Future Research

## GLOBAL COVERAGE

The 2022 *GPEI* covers 91 countries and economies grouped into 14 geographic regions. The country-level coverage remained limited in some regions. For example, only two of the 13 Caribbean countries, two of the 14 countries in Oceania, and ten of the 48 Sub-Saharan African countries are included in this report. The research team will continue to expand the coverage of countries and provide a more complete representation of each region in future editions of the *Index*.

## TIMEFRAME OF DATA COLLECTION

The *GPEI* conducts a thorough data collection and data analysis. Data collection for the 2022 *GPEI* at the country- and regional levels took place between January and November 2021. To collect comparable and consistent information, all experts evaluated the enabling environment for philanthropy for a three-year period between 2018 and 2020. Thus, this report may not reflect the most recent developments that happened after January 1, 2021. The *GPEI* is an ongoing project and will continue to share updates on the philanthropic environment in future editions.

## DIVERSE FORMS OF PHILANTHROPY

The *GPEI* report focuses primarily on formal giving and institutionalized philanthropy while assessing the environment for philanthropy through three of the six factors: ease of operating a philanthropic organization, tax incentives for giving, and cross-border philanthropic flows. The other three factors—political environment, economic environment, and socio-cultural environment—measure the presence of components that affect both formal and informal philanthropic engagement. In addition to making donations to philanthropic organizations, people practice philanthropy in various ways such as religious giving, volunteering, and generosity and acts of kindness toward friends, neighbors, or strangers, especially during the COVID-19 pandemic and other crises. The complex nature of informal philanthropy calls for more research to measure and examine all forms of philanthropy at the global level.

## WITHIN-COUNTRY VARIATIONS

The *GPEI* measures the enabling environment for philanthropy at the level of each country and economy; therefore, variations within the country itself are sometimes not fully captured and discussed in the reports. For example, philanthropic organizations tend to concentrate in urban areas where there is a thriving economy, a higher concentration of wealth, and better infrastructure for organizational operation. There is often a wide divide between urban and rural areas in many countries and economies, which leads to very different enabling environments for philanthropy within any given country. In the *GPEI* reports, the assessment of the philanthropic environment through the six factors focuses more on a country-level evaluation, which may not touch on major developments or barriers that occurred and affected only a certain geographic area within a given country. Future research that measures and analyzes the similarities and differences in the enabling conditions for philanthropy across regions within a given country will bring valuable insights for local policymaking and the development of philanthropy within the country.

# Methodology

The *Global Philanthropy Environment Index (GPEI)* examines the enabling environment for philanthropy within a country and across countries. It measures the regulatory, political, economic, and socio-cultural incentives and barriers to philanthropy in developing, emerging, and developed economies. The 2022 GPEI provides new comprehensive data on the philanthropic environment between 2018–2020 in 91 countries and economies.

## DATA COLLECTION

The *GPEI* collects data on the enabling environment for philanthropy at the country-level using an expert questionnaire. In the 2022 *GPEI*, one or more experts for each of the 91 economies included in the study completed the questionnaire. These country experts—mostly country-based—have a deep knowledge of, and rich practical experience with, the philanthropic sector. They provided a professional assessment of the environment for philanthropy in a given economy.

#### SCORING

The expert questionnaire contains 11 indicator questions to measure the environment on the basis of six factors, as listed below. For each indicator question, country experts provided a narrative (approximately 300 words) and a score on the scale of 1 (indicating the least favorable environment) to 5 (indicating the most favorable environment) for philanthropy. The questionnaire contains guiding questions and specific instructions to guide the scoring process. Using scores from expert questionnaires, overall scores for each factor were calculated for each of the 91 economies.

In addition to scores, experts shared insights on the practical influence of the laws and regulations, observations based on experience from country-based professional work in the philanthropic sector, and/or perspectives of various factors as enabling conditions for philanthropy in each economy. The 2022 *GPEI* focuses on evaluating the philanthropic environment during the three-year period between 2018 and 2020; therefore, it captures regulations, policies, practices, and other major changes that occurred and affected philanthropy during the first nine months of the COVID-19 pandemic.

### GPEI INDICATOR QUESTIONS

## Factor 1. Ease of operating philanthropic organizations

This factor focuses on the laws and regulations for the formation, operation, and dissolution of philanthropic organizations and includes the following indicator questions:

- a. To what extent can individuals form and incorporate the organizations defined?
- b. To what extent are philanthropic organizations free to operate without excessive government interference?
- c. To what extent is there government discretion in shutting down philanthropic organizations?

## Factor 2. Tax incentives

This factor examines the laws and regulations governing taxes related to making and receiving donations. It includes the following indicator questions:

- a. To what extent is the tax system favorable to making charitable donations?
- b. To what extent is the tax system favorable to philanthropic organizations in receiving charitable donations?

## Factor 3. Cross-border philanthropic flows

This factor evaluates the laws and regulations governing the incentives and constraints of making and receiving cross-border donations. It includes the following indicator questions:

- a. To what extent is the legal regulatory environment favorable to sending cross-border donations?
- b. To what extent is the legal regulatory environment favorable to receiving cross-border donations?

#### Factor 4. Political environment

This factor assesses the relationships between the government and philanthropic organizations, as well as public policies and practices regarding philanthropy. It includes the following indicator questions:

- a. To what extent is the political environment favorable for philanthropy?
- b. To what extent are public policies and practices favorable for philanthropy?

#### Factor 5. Economic environment

This factor reviews the economic conditions that nurture or hinder individual and institutional philanthropy. It includes one indicator question:

a. To what extent is the economic context favorable for philanthropy?

#### Factor 6. Socio-cultural environment

This factor captures core societal values that provide enabling or disabling philanthropic conditions such as cultural philanthropic traditions, public trust, awareness of philanthropy, and perceptions of philanthropic organizations. It includes one indicator question:

a. To what extent are socio-cultural values and practices favorable for philanthropy?

In addition to these indicator questions, the questionnaire also captures information in the following areas:

- Legal forms of philanthropic organizations;
- Important social causes supported by philanthropic organizations;
- Average time for registration, and average registration costs;
- Current state of the philanthropic sector;
- Major recent events affecting the philanthropic landscape;
- Future observable trends;
- Recommendations for improvement; and
- Philanthropic response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

### SCORE VALIDATION AND REVIEW PROCESS

After experts completed the questionnaires, the Indiana University Lilly Family School of Philanthropy research team first reviewed scores and narratives, conducted supplementary research, and collected additional information from country experts as needed. Then all data were sent to regional reviewers for score validation at the regional level. The 91 countries and economies were grouped into 14 regions. Each region had one additional expert serving as a regional reviewer, none of whom served as a country expert for the 2022 GPEI. The regional reviewers all had a broader understanding of the philanthropic environment in multiple countries in a given region. Regional reviewers assessed the scores from all participating economies included in the region, reviewed the narratives provided by country experts, and developed a concise report summarizing regional developments and trends.

As part of the 2022 *GPEI* regional review process, the research team hosted 14 online meetings with experts from 14 regions. Regional reviewers and country experts participated in these meetings. They shared updates on the development of the philanthropic environment in each economy during the 2018–2020 period, and discussed scores for the 11 indicator questions at the country- and regional levels. These experts also made suggestions on potential ways to improve the methodologies in future editions of the *GPEI*.

Lastly, the Global Advisory Council reviewed and discussed the scores and country reports from a global perspective and suggested adjustments for some economies as needed. After this careful and thorough score validation and review process at the country-, regional, and global levels, the research team calculated the final average values for each factor as well as each economy and region, and developed the *Index*.

#### COUNTRY AND REGIONAL REPORTS

In addition to this global report, the 2022 *GPEI* includes 91 separate country reports and 14 regional reports, all available at <u>globalindices.iupui.edu</u>. These reports provide background information on the enabling environment for philanthropy for these 91 countries and economies in 14 regions. These reports also share updates on major changes that occurred in 2018–2020 and identify key trends on future developments in philanthropy in a given economy or region.

# Acknowledgments

This project was funded in part by the Charles Stewart Mott Foundation. In addition to being a funder of this project, the Mott Foundation has provided valuable support to civil society organizations and community philanthropy initiatives around the world.

This project was made possible through the support of a grant from the John Templeton Foundation. The opinions expressed in this publication are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views of the John Templeton Foundation.

The research team greatly appreciates the support of the Indiana University Office of the Vice President for Research, Jerre L. Stead and Mary Joy Stead, WINGS, and the IUPUI Office of International Affairs Sustainable Development Goals Grant.

The research team would like to thank members of the Global Advisory Council, regional reviewers, country experts, and others for their valuable contributions to the *Global Philanthropy Environment Index*.

There are many individuals not named here who donated their time and expertise without which this project would not have been completed. The research team is grateful to each and every one of them for their distinct contributions and generous support.

Member	Institutional Affiliation		
Circle M. Lett	Coloritie Indexes (c. M.C. Manager of Decomp		
Cindy M. Lott	Columbia University, M.S. Nonprofit Management Program		
Carol Adelman	Hudson Institute		
Anindya Chatterjee	International Development Research Centre (IDRC)		
Nadya Hernandez	WINGS		
Hilary Kahn	IUPUI Office of International Affairs; IU Office of the Vice President for International Affairs		
Gil Latz	The Ohio State University Office of International Affairs		
Bhekinkosi Moyo	Centre on African Philanthropy and Social Investment, Wits Business School		
Douglas Rutzen	International Center for Not-for-Profit Law (ICNL)		
Kareman Shoair	John D. Gerhart Center for Philanthropy, Civic Engagement and Responsible Business, American University Cairo		
Pamala Wiepking	Indiana University Lilly Family School of Philanthropy; Vrije Universiteit (VU) Amsterdam		

## GLOBAL ADVISORY COUNCIL



### REGIONAL REVIEWERS

Region	Researcher	Institutional Affiliation
Balkan Countries	Indiana University Lilly Family School of Philanthropy	Indiana University Lilly Family School of Philanthropy
Canada & the United States	Kathi Badertscher	Indiana University Lilly Family School of Philanthropy
Caribbean	Sharilyn Hale	Watermark Philanthropic Counsel
Central Asia & South Caucasus	Roza Salibekova	Independent Consultant
Central Europe	Vladimír Hyánek	Centre for Nonprofit Sector Research, Masaryk University
Eastern Asia	James Gannon	Japan Center for International Exchange
Latin America	Van Evans	Generations Humanitarian
Middle East & Northern Europe	Samiul Hasan	Independent Consultant
Northern Europe	Bernard Enjolras	Institute for Social Research, Norway
Oceania	Krystian Siebert	Centre for Social Impact, Swinburne University of Technology
Southern & Southeastern Asia	Dana R. H. Doan	Indiana University Lilly Family School of Philanthropy
Southern Europe	Hanna Surmatz	Philea–Philanthropy Europe Association
Sub-Saharan Africa	Tendai Murisa	SIVIO Institute
Western Europe	Michael Meyer	Institute for Nonprofit Management, WU (Vienna University of Economics and Business)

## COUNTRY EXPERTS

Country	Researcher	Institutional Affiliation
Balkan Countries		
Albania	Juliana Hoxha	Partners Albania for Change and Development
Bosnia & Herzegovina	Nenad Ličanin	Mozaik Foundation
Croatia	Mladen Ivanovic	Independent Consultant
Kosovo	Qerkin Berisha	Faculty of Law, University of Prishtina, Republic of Kosovo
North Macedonia	Branko Dokuzovski	HORUS, North Macedonia
Montenegro	Anica-Maja Boljević	Fund for Active Citizenship—fAKT
Serbia	Aleksandra Vesic Antic*	Catalyst Balkans
Canada & the United Stat	tes	
Canada	Adam Aptowitzer	Independent Consultant
United States	Leslie Lenkowsky	Indiana University Lilly Family School of Philanthropy
Caribbean		
Barbados	Jane Elizabeth Armstrong	The Maria Holder Memorial Trust
Jamaica	Karen Y. Johns	The Johns Consulting Group
Central Asia & South Cau	icasus	
Armenia	Mariam Galstyan	American University of Armenia
Azerbaijan	Mahammad Guluzade	MG Consulting LLC, Baku, Azerbaijan
Belarus	Anonymous	
Georgia	Vazha Salamadze and Levan Paniashvili	Civil Society Institute
Kazakhstan	Janyl Mukashova	System Research Center
Kyrgyz Republic	Dinara Musabekova	University of Central Asia
Russia	Irina Mersianova and Natalia Ivanova	Centre for Studies of Civil Society and the Nonprofit Sector at the National Research University Higher School of Economics

<sup>\*</sup> Now deceased

## **Central Europe**

Bulgaria	Luben Panov	Bulgarian Center for Not-For-Profit Law (BCNL)
Czech Republic	Kateřina Ronovská and Dagmar Goldmannová	Faculty of Law, Masaryk University, Brno, Czech Republic
Hungary	Eszter Hartay	European Center for Not-for-Profit Law Stichting
Poland	Lidia Kuczmierowska, Piotr Henzler, Andrzej Pietrucha, and Grzegorz Wiaderek	Academy of Civic Organizations Foundation
Romania	Stefan Cibian / Lev Fejes	The Făgăraș Research Institute / ARC Romania
Slovakia	Boris Strečanský	Institute of European Studies and International Relations (IESIR), Comenius University, Bratislava, Slovakia
Ukraine	Oleksandr Vinnikov	Institute of Professional Fundraising in Ukraine, Ukrainian Catholic University

## Eastern Asia

Ecuador

China	Qun Wang	University of Toledo
Hong Kong	Anonymous	
Japan	Takayuki Yoshioka	Okayama University
South Korea	Sung-Ju Kim / The Beautiful Foundation	North Carolina State University / The Beautiful Foundation
Taiwan	Helen K. Liu	National Taiwan University
Latin America		
Argentina	Guillermo Canova	Universidad Austral, Argentina
Bolivia	Antonio Perez Velasco	Independent Consultant
Brazil	Paula Jancso Fabiani	Institute for the Development of Social Investment (IDIS)
Chile	Magdalena Aninat and Rocío Vallespin	Centro de Filantropía e Inversiones Sociales at Universidad Adolfo Ibáñez
Colombia	Bernardo Gonzalez Velez	Independent Consultant

Costa Rica José Miguel Alfaro, Sophia Murillo, EY Central America, EY Law S.A. and Luisana Apéstegui

Daniel Barragán-Terán

Universidad Hemisfer	ios
----------------------	-----

## Latin America (cont.)

Mexico	Jacqueline Butcher and Santiago Sordo	Centro de Investigación y Estudios sobre Sociedad Civil, CIESC Tecnológico de Monterrey, Mexico City
Peru	María Beatriz Parodi Luna	Legal Consultant
Uruguay	Inés M. Pousadela	CIVICUS; ICD; Universidad ORT, Uruguay
Venezuela	Anonymous	

## Middle East & Northern Africa

Egypt	Anonymous	
Iran	Anonymous	
Israel	Galia Feit / Hagai Katz	Institute for Law and Philanthropy, Buchmann Faculty of Law, Tel-Aviv University / Guilford Glazer Faculty of Business and Management, Ben-Gurion University of the Negev
Jordan	Samir Abu Rumman	World of Opinions
Kuwait	Samir Abu Rumman / Aws AlShaheen	Global Center for Philanthropy Studies (GCPS) / Sunbulah Consultancy Firm
Lebanon	Layal Sakr	SEEDS for Legal Initiatives
Morocco	Essaadi Elmostafa	CDL
Qatar	Naila Farouky	Arab Foundations Forum (AFF)
Saudi Arabia	Anonymous	
Sudan	Anonymous	
Turkey	Third Sector Foundation of Turkey	Third Sector Foundation of Turkey
United Arab Emirates	Anonymous	

## Northern Europe

Denmark	Lars Skov Henriksen	Department of Sociology and Social Work, Aalborg University, Denmark
Finland	Martti Muukkonen	University of Eastern Finland
Norway	Karl Henrik Sivesind	Institute for Social Research, Norway
Sweden	Johan Vamstad	Ersta Sköndal Bräcke University College

Country	Researcher	Institutional Affiliation
Oceania		
Australia	Anonymous	
New Zealand	Carolyn J. Cordery	Victoria University of Wellington, New Zealand; Aston University, United Kingdom

### Southern & Southeastern Asia

India	Divya Chopra, Ingrid Srinath	Centre for Social Impact and Philanthropy, Ashoka University
Indonesia	Suzanty Sitorus, Hamid Abidin	Independent Consultants
Myanmar	Pansy Tun Thein	Local Resource Centre
Nepal	Uttam Uprety	Kathmandu University School of Education, Civic Freedom Monitor (ICNL)
Pakistan	Shazia Maqsood Amjad	Pakistan Centre for Philanthropy
Philippines	Danilo Songco, Staff of the Caucus of Development NGO Networks, Inc.	Caucus of Development NGO Networks, Inc.
Singapore	Eugene K B Tan	Yong Pung How School of Law, Singapore Management University
Thailand	Anonymous	
Vietnam	Anonymous	
Southern Europe		
Greece	Christina Giannopoulou	Athens University of Economics and Business
Italy	Raffaella Rametta	Faculty of Political Science, University of Teramo
Portugal	Ricardo André Mendonça da Silva de Martins Marques	Stone Soup Consulting; RosaJumi, Associação de Ação Social
Spain	Isabel Peñalosa Esteban	Spanish Association of Foundations

## Sub-Saharan Africa

Eswatini	Vulindlela Simelane	University of Eswatini Foundation
Ethiopia	Kidist (Kidy) Ibrie Yasin	Indiana University Lilly Family School of Philanthropy
Ghana	Ahmed Hamza Tijani	Oxfam in Ghana
Kenya	Catherine Mwendwa and Nicanor Sabula	Independent Consultants
Liberia	Kelly Ann Krawczyk	Auburn University Department of Political Science
Nigeria	Anastesia A. Okaomee	Indiana University Lilly Family School of Philanthropy
Senegal	Rouguiétou Khady Sow and Amadou Moustapha Dieng	Trust Africa
South Africa	Ricardo Wyngaard	Ricardo Wyngaard Attorneys
Tanzania	Anonymous	
Zimbabwe	Anonymous	

## Western Europe

Austria	Michaela Neumayr	Institute for Nonprofit Management, WU (Vienna University of Economics and Business)
Belgium	Pascale Van Durme	Belgian Federation of Philanthropic Foundations (BFPF)
France	Philippe-Henri Dutheil / Charles Sellen	Haut Conseil à la Vie Associative (HCVA), Paris / Indiana University Lilly Family School of Philanthropy
Germany	Volker Then	Center for Social Investment (CSI), Heidelberg University
Ireland	Oonagh B. Breen	Sutherland School of Law, University College Dublin, Ireland
Liechtenstein	Marc Gottschald and Ann-Veruschka Jurisch	Center for Philanthropy, University of Liechtenstein
Netherlands	W.J.M. (Wino) van Veen / René Bekkers	Faculty of Law, Vrije Universiteit (VU) Amsterdam; Baker McKenzie Amsterdam / Faculty of Social Sciences, Vrije Universiteit (VU) Amsterdam
Switzerland	Georg von Schnurbein	Center for Philanthropy Studies (CEPS), University of Basel
United Kingdom	Debra Morris	Charity Law & Policy Unit, University of Liverpool

### INDIANA UNIVERSITY LILLY FAMILY SCHOOL OF PHILANTHROPY

The Indiana University Lilly Family School of Philanthropy is dedicated to improving philanthropy to improve the world by training and empowering students and professionals to be innovators and leaders who create positive and lasting change. The school offers a comprehensive approach to philanthropy through its academic, research and international programs, and through The Fund Raising School, Lake Institute on Faith & Giving, Mays Family Institute on Diverse Philanthropy, and Women's Philanthropy Institute.

Learn more at philanthropy.iupui.edu.

## INDIANA UNIVERSITY LILLY FAMILY SCHOOL OF PHILANTHROPY PROJECT TEAM

Una Osili Associate Dean for Research and International Programs

Kinga Zsofia Horvath Visiting Research Associate

Cathie Carrigan Managing Director of International Programs

Andrew Keeler Associate Director of Corporate and Foundation Relations

Adriene Davis Kalugyer Manager of Public Affairs

Diantha Daniels Executive Assistant

Edward Vaughan Research Assistant Karly Murat-Prater Research Assistant

Julie Herkal Research Assistant

Benjamin Hiatt Research Assistant

Jiaxun Du Research Assistant

Erica Bernstein Research Assistant

Taha Husain Research Assistant

J. Heidi Newman Proofreading and Copyediting

Mallory St. Claire Proofreading and Copyediting Curtis Kester Business Manager

Tim Delph Financial Assistant

Tim Fisher Director of Finance

Virginia Beyer Business Manager

Trudi Jones Financial Assistant

Linda Blair Contract Manager, Indiana University

#### SPECIAL THANKS TO

Jon Bergdoll, Silvia Garcia, Charles Sellen, and Xinyi Zhao, for their contributions to the 2022 *Global Philanthropy Environment Index*.

## DESIGN WORK BY

Galambos + Associates, LLC, and additional communications counsel and video production by VOX Global. All map images were created with mapchart.net.



University Hall, 301 University Blvd., Suite 3000, Indianapolis, IN 46202, USA 317.278.8902 / indices@iupui.edu / @IUPhilanthropy © 2022 Indiana University Lilly Family School of Philanthropy. All rights reserved.

## References

Anand, P. U., & Hayling, C. (2014). Levers for change: Philanthropy in select South East Asian countries. *Social Insight Research Series*. Lien Centre for Social Innovation Reports.

Amnesty International. (2021). *Amnesty International to Close Its Hong Kong Offices*. Available at: https://www.amnesty.org/en/latest/news/2021/10/amnesty-international-to-close-its-hong-kong-offices/

CAF America. (2021). *Future-Proofing Nonprofits for the Post-Pandemic World: The Voice of Charities Facing COVID-19, Volume 6*. Available at: https://www.cafamerica. org/wp-content/uploads/CV19\_6\_Report\_cafamerica.pdf

Centre for Research on the Epidemiology of Disasters. (2019). *Natural Disasters 2018*. Available at: https://reliefweb.int/report/world/natural-disasters-2018

Centre for Research on the Epidemiology of Disasters. (2020). *Natural Disasters 2019*. Available at: https://reliefweb.int/report/world/natural-disasters-2019

Centre for Research on the Epidemiology of Disasters. (2021). *Disaster Year in Review 2020: Global Trends and Perspectives*. Available at: https://reliefweb.int/report/world/cred-crunch-newsletter-issue-no-62-may-2021-disaster-year-review-2020-global-trends-and

CIVICUS. (2021a). *Myanmar: Activists behind bars*. Available at: https://www.civicus.org/index.php/media-resources/ news/5223-myanmar-activists-behind-bars

CIVICUS. (2021b). *Civil Society Groups Forced to Disband as Activists and Critics Prosecuted in Hong Kong*. Available at: https://monitor.civicus.org/updates/2021/11/19/ civil-society-groups-forced-disband-activists-and-criticsprosecuted-hong-kong/ CIVICUS. (2022). Arrests and Attacks on Activists Persist in Myanmar as Civil Society Slams Hun Sen's Rogue Diplomacy. Available at: https://monitor.civicus.org/updates/2022/01/17/ arrests-and-attacks-activists-persist-myanmar-civil-societyslams-hun-sens-rogue-diplomacy/

ClimateWorks Global Intelligence. (2021). *Funding trends* 2021: Climate change mitigation philanthropy. Available at: https://www.climateworks.org/wp-content/ uploads/2021/10/CWF\_Funding\_Trends\_2021.pdf

Development Initiatives. (2021). *Global Humanitarian Assistance Report 2020*. Available at: https://devinit. org/documents/1008/Global-Humanitarian-Assistance-Report-2021.pdf

Epperly, B., & Lee, T. (2015). Corruption and NGO sustainability. *Voluntas: International Journal of Voluntary & Nonprofit Organizations*, 26(1), 171–197.

Garcia, S., Osili, U., & Kou, X. (2019). Measuring the environment for philanthropy across countries: How changing political and economic landscapes affect charitable giving. *ISTR 2018 Working Papers Series*.

Global Generosity Research. (2021). *Global Generosity in Times of Crisis: Global Helping Behaviors During the COVID-19 Pandemic*. Available at: https://www.globalgenerosityresearch.com/reports/

Hong Kong Council of Social Service. (2021). *Tax Guide for Charitable Institutions and Trusts of a Public Character*. Available at: https://governance.hkcss.org.hk/node/395

Indiana University Lilly Family School of Philanthropy. (2018). 2018 Global Philanthropy Environment Index. Available at: https://globalindices.iupui.edu/environment/ index.html

Indiana University Lilly Family School of Philanthropy. (2020). 2020 Global Philanthropy Tracker. Available at: https://globalindices.iupui.edu/tracker/index.html

International Center for Not-for-Profit Law. (2021). *Civic Freedom Monitor: Myanmar (Burma)*. Available at: https:// www.icnl.org/resources/civic-freedom-monitor/myanmar

Liu, J. (2021). CSOs after the coup: Operations squeezed, funding crunched. *Frontier Myanmar*. Available at: https:// www.frontiermyanmar.net/en/csos-after-the-coup-operationssqueezed-funding-crunched/

Mexicanos Contra La Corrupción y la Impunidad. (2021). *Gobierno Federal Amenaza el Funcionamiento de Sociedad Civil.* Available at: https://contralacorrupcion.mx/gobiernofederal-amenaza-funcionamiento-de-sociedad-civil

Moore, D., & Rutzen, D. (2011). Legal framework for global philanthropy. *International Journal of Not-for-Profit Law*, 13(1–2), 5–41.

Rodríguez, D. (2021). La Miscelánea Tributaria Pone en Riesgo a las Organizaciones Civiles de México. *El País México*. Available at: https://elpais.com/mexico/2021-10-20/ la-miscelanea-tributaria-pone-en-riesgo-a-las-organizacionesciviles-de-mexico.html

Thindwa, J., Monico, C., & Reuben, W. (2003). Enabling environments for civic engagement in PRSP countries. *Social Development Notes*, 82, 1–5. Available at: http://hdl.handle. net/10986/11319

Tijani, H. (2022). *Tumultuous Events Hindering Philanthropy and Undermined CSOs in Ghana*. The Summary was provided to Indiana University Lilly Family School of Philanthropy under the 2022 Global Philanthropy Environment Index research project.

United Nations. (2021). *Rohingya Refugee Crisis*. Available at: https://news.un.org/en/focus/rohingya-refugee-crisis

United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. (2021). *Global Trends: Forced Displacement in 2020*. Available at: https://www.unhcr.org/statistics/unhcrstats/60b638e37/globaltrends-forced-displacement-2020.html United States Agency for International Development. (2021). 2020 Civil Society Organization Sustainability Index for Mexico. Available at: https://www.fhi360.org/sites/default/ files/media/documents/csosi-mexico-2020-report.pdf

West Africa Civil Society Institute. (2022). *Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic on Civil Society Organizations in Ghana*. Available at: https://wacsi.org/wp-content/uploads/ 2021/03/Impact-of-COVID-19-on-CSOs-in-Ghana.pdf

World Vision. (2018). 7 of the worst disasters in 2018. Available at: https://www.worldvision.org/disaster-reliefnews-stories/worst-disasters-2018

World Vision. (2019). 6 of the worst disasters in 2019. Available at: https://www.worldvision.org/disaster-reliefnews-stories/worst-disasters-2019

World Vision. (2021). 8 of the worst disasters in 2020. Available at: https://www.worldvision.org/ corporate/2021/04/15/8-of-the-worst-disasters-in-2020/ The Lilly Family School of Philanthropy provides a comprehensive approach to philanthropy through its academic programs and executive training courses that are designed to empower students, professionals, and volunteers to be innovators and leaders who create positive and lasting change in the world.

The first of its kind, the school offers unparalleled access to philanthropic leaders and visionaries to both students and alumni.

Now enrolling for bachelor's, master's, certificate, and doctoral programs.

LEARN MORE AT PHILANTHROPY.IUPUI.EDU.

- 🞐 @IU PHILANTHROPY
- f @IULILLYFAMILYSCHOOLOFPHILANTHROPY
- @IU.PHILANTHROPY
- /IUPHILANTHROPY
- in /INDIANA-UNIVERSITY-LILLY-FAMILY-SCHOOL-OF-PHILANTHROPY

